RECEIVED

01-30-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP2162-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROYCE O. BERNARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Nicole M. Masnica Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 masnican@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err by denying, without an evidentiary hearing, the portion of Mr. Bernard's postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for trial counsel's failure to challenge the officer's credibility at the pretrial suppression hearing?

The circuit court concluded that the evidence presented in the postconviction motion, which contradicted the officer's testimony would have been insufficient for the court to question the officer's credibility and testimony, and therefore, the court denied the motion on its face and declined to hold an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Bernard welcomes oral argument if the court would find it helpful to deciding the issue. Publication is not necessary, as the issue involves the application of well-settled caselaw.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Stop and Arrest of Mr. Bernard

On May 1, 2016, shortly after 2:00 a.m., Mr. Bernard was walking with two friends on North 13th Street in the City of Milwaukee. A police squad quickly turned down N. 13th Street, traveling south toward Mr. Bernard. (19:2-4). Police Officers Brian Wunder and Nicolas J. Romeo exited the squad and approached Mr. Bernard and the two other young men. (19:2-4). Officer Romeo questioned Mr. Bernard about

where he was coming from and per the officer's report, Mr. Bernard responded that he was coming from home, but didn't know the exact address as he had recently moved (the police report also notes that Mr. Bernard's address is 1008 West Hadley Street, approximately four blocks from the location he was stopped). (19:2-4).

Officer Romeo inquired whether Mr. Bernard had a weapon, which he denied. (19:3). The officer then conducted a pat down of Mr. Bernard, finding a rifle tucked into Mr. Bernard's pant leg. (19:3-4).

Criminal Charges

As a result of the possession of the rifle, Mr. Bernard was charged with two crimes, Count one: carrying a concealed weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.23(2), and Count two, possession of a dangerous weapon by a person under 18 years old, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.60(2)(a). (1).

Motion to Suppress

On June 21, 2016, trial counsel filed a motion to suppress the gun evidence, alleging the police stopped Mr. Bernard illegally. (3). The motion alleged the following:

- 1. Officers Wunder and Romeo did not have reasonable suspicion that Mr. Bernard had committed, was committing or was about to commit a crime at the time the contact was made. (3).
- 2. That it was unreasonable to stop three young men walking down the street simply because the officers allegedly received a dispatch that a suspicious vehicle was recovered nearby. (3).

An evidentiary hearing was held and the State called a single witness, Officer Nicolas Romeo. Officer Romeo's testimony largely tracked his police report, but additional details were elicited at the hearing. (38). Officer Romeo told the court that he and the other officer assigned to his squad were at "18th and Burleigh" when they received the call over dispatch regarding a possible stolen vehicle recovered in the area of the 1300 block of West Locust and that as they were "traveling eastbound on Burleigh..., [he saw] what appeared to be three juveniles walking in the middle of the 3000 block of North 13th Street northbound towards Burleigh." (38:5). He testified that the individuals appeared to be "over the age of ten," and that he thought they were around fifteen years old¹

The video shows one of the other two young men, who tells the officer his birthday is 7/10/1998, making him legally an adult for purposes of the City of Milwaukee juvenile curfew. This young man clearly appears older than fifteen. The third individual is not seen on the body camera video, but his name and date of birth appear in the CAD report. He was identified as Christopher D. Reed, DOB: 5/12/1999, thus was almost 17 years old at the time of the stop. (Ex. I).

(continued)

¹ Per the police department firearm report, Mr. Bernard was listed at 6'0" and 160 pounds at the time of this arrest. (19:12). Mr. Bernard was also less than two months from his eighteenth birthday (DOB: 7/24/1998). Further, while the written police reports do not specifically discuss the names or ages of the other two individuals stopped with Mr. Bernard, one is visible on the body camera video of Officer Sergio Rentas, who is not mentioned during the hearing but is on scene along with several other unnamed officers. The body camera does not show the stop and arrest, but captures the scene following Mr. Bernard's placement in the police squad. (Exhibit I: Body Camera Video).

when he decided to perform the stop. (38:8). The officer made it clear, however, that the reason he stopped Mr. Bernard was because he believed the men to be involved in the call he received from Officer Randolph Bruso about a "possible stolen vehicle."²

During cross-examination, Officer Romeo provided additional details about the stop. He stated that he "was following traffic rules" when he came upon the young men. (38:14). However, North 13th Street is a one-way street that allows only for northbound travel. (19:13). Thus, as the squad was headed southbound on that road,³ it could not have been complying with legal traffic rules as asserted by Officer Romeo. (19:14-15). The officer also claimed that approximately ten seconds passed after he received the dispatch and then came upon the three young men, and that he traveled from 18th and Burleigh to 13th and Burleigh in that time frame. (38:15).

This additional information was not raised by trial counsel during the motion hearing or in his written motion in an effort to challenge the credibility of the officer.

² STATE: And just to be clear, you did believe that this might be related [to the possible stolen vehicle], and that's why this whole stop occurred to begin with?

OFFICER ROMEO: Yes, sir.

(38:12).

³ This is confirmed by the body camera video included with the postconviction motion exhibits, as it shows the squad car parked facing south. (Ex. I).

At the hearing, trial counsel's questioning focused primarily upon the details Officer Romeo had about the "possible stolen vehicle" from dispatch and the reasons Mr. Bernard and his two friends were identified as potential suspects. During oral argument on the motion, trial counsel argued that there was not enough information from the dispatch call "to provide reasonable suspicion to stop...Mr. Bernard in this case." (38:26).

At the conclusion of oral argument, the court denied Mr. Bernard's motion to suppress, concluding:

[U]nder the totality of the circumstances, which is what the law requires us to apply, believe that the officer had, and I find that the officer had, reasonable suspicion that these individuals had committed a crime, that being taking part in a stolen vehicle."

(38:27).

In support of the denial, the court pointed to four specific facts. First, the court opined that it was important that Mr. Bernard was traveling in a direction away from and nearby the place where the alleged stolen vehicle had been abandoned. (38:28). Second, the trial court concluded that the fact that the vehicle was still running indicated that it was likely the vehicle had recently been abandoned by the thief, as it had not run out of gas and there was no information that somebody had called the vehicle in. (38:28). Third, the court considered the officer's testimony that this all occurred around 2:15 a.m. and there was nobody else on the street as a basis to support reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Bernard. Finally, the court stated it was "marginally" significant that the young men were alleged by Officer Romeo to have been walking down the middle of the street, as they were violating the "rules of our community" by not walking on the sidewalk.

(38:29). The court concluded that these four factors supported the officer's position that there was reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Bernard and his friends because of the possibility that they were involved in abandoning the nearby vehicle. After the oral ruling, Attorney Hagner requested a plea and sentencing hearing.

Plea and Sentencing

On August 18, 2016, Mr. Bernard entered guilty pleas to both counts in the criminal complaint. On that same day, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan imposed a sentence of six months in the Milwaukee House of Correction on count one and imposed and stayed an additional six months of jail time on count two, placing Mr. Bernard on twelve months of probationary supervision, consecutive to the jail time in count one. (9). On August 23, 2016, a Notice of Intent to Seek Postconviction Relief was filed on behalf of Mr. Bernard by trial counsel and undersigned counsel was later appointed to handle the appeal. (8)

Postconviction Proceedings

Following the appointment of counsel on appeal, Mr. Bernard filed a motion seeking a stay of his probation supervision ordered on Count 2. The motion alleged that Mr. Bernard's conduct was not illegal under Wis. Stat. § 948.60(2)(a) and therefore, his conviction and resulting probation term was illegal. On June 6, 2017, the trial court heard Mr. Bernard's motion requesting that his probation term and any potential stayed sentence be stayed pending appeal. The trial court granted that motion and signed the Order Granting Stay of Probation and Sentence Pending Appeal on June 12, 2017. (17).

On June 19, 2017, Mr. Bernard filed his postconviction motion, which alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in its challenge of the stop in the instant case, and also that Mr. Bernard conviction on Count 2 was without a factual basis because his conduct was not prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 948.60(2)(a). (18).

In his motion, Mr. Bernard argued that trial counsel was ineffective during the cross-examination of Officer Romeo, as several of the officer's statements were incorrect or easily refutable.

First, Mr. Bernard's motion alleged that Officer Romeo's account of how the young men looked at the time of the stop was inaccurate. During his testimony, Officer Romeo told the court that the individuals he stopped appeared to be juveniles and between the ages of ten and sixteen. (38:8). Per the police department firearm report, however, Mr. Bernard was listed at 6'0" and 160 pounds at the time of this arrest. (19:12). Mr. Bernard was also seventeen years old and less than two months from his eighteenth birthday at the time of the arrest (DOB: 7/24/1998). Further, while the written police reports do not specifically discuss the names or ages of the other two individuals stopped with Mr. Bernard, one is visible on the body camera video of Officer Sergio Rentas, who is not mentioned during the hearing but is on scene along with several other unnamed officers. The body camera does not show the stop and arrest, but captures the scene following Mr. Bernard's placement in the police squad. (Exhibit I: Body Camera Video).

The video shows one of the other two young men, who tells the officer his birthday is 7/10/1998, making him legally an adult for purposes of the City of Milwaukee juvenile curfew. This young man clearly appears older than fifteen.

The third individual is not seen on the body camera video, but his name and date of birth appear in the CAD report. He was identified as Christopher D. Reed, DOB: 5/12/1999, thus was almost 17 years old at the time of the stop. (Ex. I). This additional information was not raised by trial counsel during the motion hearing or in his written motion in an effort to challenge the credibility of the officer.

Next, Officer Romeo testified that he was located at "18th and Burleigh" when the squad received a call over dispatch regarding a possible stolen vehicle recovered in the area of the 1300 block of West Locust and that as they were headed eastbound on Burleigh toward the location of the stolen car when they arrived upon Mr. Bernard and his friends on 13th Street walking northbound towards Burleigh. (38:5). He reported that this drive took only about ten seconds and that added that he "was following traffic rules" when he made contact with Mr. Bernard. (38:14). Mr. Bernard argued in the postconviction motion that Officer Romeo's account about where he was during the call and how he discovered Mr. Bernard was impossible.

Officer Romeo's testimony was problematic because it is not possible to drive from 18th and Burleigh to 13th and Burleigh simply by heading east. (38:14). Union Cemetery is set between 19th and 16th Street and there is no connecting road at Burleigh Street. Additionally, had the officers been near where Officer Romeo reported at the time of the call, the squad would have had to drive southeast on W. Hopkins Street, east on W. Chambers Street, then North of N. Teutonia Avenue (heading away from the 1300 block of W. Locust Street – the location of the alleged stolen vehicle) and finally continuing east on W. Burleigh Street for approximately three blocks. (19:14-16). This drive, according to a Google Maps search, would have taken approximately three minutes, far

longer than Officer Romeo's reported ten second trip. (19:14-16). Moreover, North 13th Street is a one-way street that allows only for northbound travel. (19:13). Thus, as the squad was headed southbound on that road,⁴ it could not have been complying with legal traffic rules as asserted by Officer Romeo. (19:14-15). Mr. Bernard argued in his postconviction motion that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to cross examine the officer on these points.

Further, Mr. Bernard alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the accuracy of Officer Romeo's report that he had received a dispatch call about a stolen vehicle. Officer Romeo wrote in his report and testified that Officer Randolph Bruso had called in a possible stolen vehicle recovered near the 1300 block of W. Locust Street and this spurred the stop of Mr. Bernard. (19:1-4; 38:5). The CAD report of Officer Bruso, however, reflects that the initial call was not for a stolen vehicle. (24:4).

Officer Bruso's CAD report shows that his call was initiated at 1:59:10 a.m. Officer Bruso's report to dispatch is noted as a "Traffic Hazard" at the location of 1200 W. Locust Street, not as an abandoned stolen vehicle. (24:4). The next entry is at 02:02:03, noting that at that time, Squad 5426 (Officer Romeo's squad) was dispatched as an official BACKER to that investigation. (24:4). The next entry is at 02:03:12 in which Squad 5481 is also assigned as a back-up squad to the traffic hazard call. (24:4). At 02:03:45, there is a dispatch from Officer Romeo's squad that noting a recovered stolen automobile, that they had an individual in custody and that a gun had been recovered. (24:4).

⁴ This is confirmed by the body camera video included with the postconviction motion exhibits, as it shows the squad car parked facing south. (Ex. I).

Officer Bruso also submitted a report outlining his involvement in the incident. (19:18). He writes that he was called to the scene as the "Crime Scene Technician" at 2:17 a.m., ten minutes after Mr. Bernard had already been searched and arrested. He notes, "Upon my arrival, sqd-5436 (PO Nicholas (sic) ROMEO and PO Brian WUNDER) advised me of the circumstances regarding this incident. At 2:33 AM, I took 8 digital photographs of this incident." (19:18). Officer Bruso's report makes no mention of a dispatch he allegedly made regarding a stolen car or that the two incidents were at all related. Trial counsel did not address this topic during the cross-examination of Officer Romeo or attempt to call Officer Bruso as a witness. For that reason, Mr. Bernard alleged in his postconviction motion, trial counsel was ineffective.

Following receipt of the postconviction motion, the circuit court ordered briefing. (21).

On October 9, 2017, the circuit court issued an order on the postconviction motion. (29). The court granted Mr. Bernard's motion in part and vacated his conviction and sentence on Count 2 and to dismissed the possession of dangerous weapon by child charge. On his motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in the litigation of the suppression motion, the court both declined to order an evidentiary hearing and denied the motion for plea withdrawal on the remaining count.

In its written decision and order, the circuit court held:

In essence, the defendant suggests that Officer Romeo was purposely lying on the stand. The court rejects outright any claim that Officer Romeo knowingly testified untruthfully about his location.

(29:4). The court also held that the officer's location at the time of the call "is not a fact that the court would expect an officer to have a strong recollection about because his exact location at the time the radio call came in" was not relevant to the arrest. (29: 4). The court then went to surmise what the officer must have meant by his testimony⁵, concluding, "had trial counsel pursued this avenue, it would not have affected the court's assessment of the officer's credibility." (29:4).

Regarding the representations of the officer regarding his perception of Mr. Bernard's age, the court wrote that the "body camera recording shows that all three individuals⁶ were young-looking males." (29: 5). The court concluded that the "officer's assessment was that the defendant was a juvenile, and he was correct⁷." (29:5).

Finally, when assessing the inconsistencies in the incident and CAD reports of Officer Romeo and Officer Bruso, the court addressed only the issue of timing – that

⁵ The court stated: "It is entirely conceivable to the court that the officer either did not recall that he had turned onto a one-way street or that he did not notice that it was a one-way street because his attention was focused on the three individuals who were walking down the middle of it at 2 a.m." (29:4-5).

⁶ As outlined in Mr. Bernard's postconviction motion, the body camera recording shows only one of the men, who was seventeen at the time of the stop and not a juvenile. Neither of the other two men were in the video, as they were already placed in squad cars. The dialogue between the officers in the video confirms this. (Ex. I).

⁷ Mr. Bernard, as pointed out in the postconviction motion, was not a juvenile, as he was seventeen at the time of the incident. Mr. Bernard was immediately charged in criminal court as an adult for the conduct.

Officer Romeo's account of the incident and his role in the arrest corresponded with the time Officer Bruso called in a "traffic hazard" in the area of the 1200 block of Locust Street. (29:6). The court noted that it is "quite remarkable that all of this activity [testified to by Officer Romeo] could take place within four minutes and 35 seconds," and that it supports Officer Romeo's account that he was very close to the location of the three men when the call came though. (29:7).

The court ultimately concluded that counsel was not ineffective for failing to present these three arguments during the motion hearing "because none of them would have been sufficient to call Officer Romeo's credibility into question." (29:7). On that basis, the court denied Mr. Bernard's postconviction motion on Count 1. (29:7)

Mr. Bernard now appeals.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Bernard's ineffective assistance of counsel claim, as the decision denying the motion made specific credibility determinations without the court first holding an evidentiary hearing on the matter.

A. Legal standard.

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Bernard argued that trial counsel was ineffective for inadequately pursuing the motion to suppress due to an illegal stop by failing to properly cross-examine and impeach Officer Romeo at the evidentiary hearing on the motion.

When a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is intertwined with a request for plea withdrawal, a defendant must make a *prima facie* case of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Wesley*, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 23, 321 Wis. 2d, 151, 772 N.W.2d 232. When determining whether counsel was ineffective for failing to properly advise a client of a plea bargain, the two-part test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington* is applied. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The *Strickland* test requires that a defendant show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) counsel's errors or omissions prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997).

In order to satisfy the "prejudice" prong of the *Strickland* test, there must be a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d at 276 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). In the context of a plea withdrawal case, a defendant is required to establish that there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

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