# RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-23-2018

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP002162-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ROYCE O. BERNARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Patrick W. O'Keefe Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1099820 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Finally, Bernard contended that the CAD report pertaining to this incident does not include information about Officer Bruso's initial broadcast of a possible stolen vehicle. (R19:15). Bernard also argued that there was supporting information about an investigation as to whether Bernard was involved with the stolen vehicle, which undermines the testimony of Officer Romeo. (R19:15).

The circuit court again found that Officer Romeo's testimony was consistent with the evidence on the record. The court cited the fact that a CAD report for Officer Bruso's police call was generated showing the call occurred for a "traffic hazard" at 1:59 A.M. at 1200 West Locust Street and mentioned a Nissan Altima. (29:5). The circuit court found this to be consistent with Officer Romeo's testimony that he had heard Officer Bruso's call for a possible stolen vehicle "around 2 a.m." near the 1300<sup>th</sup> block of West Locust Street. (R29:5). The court further found that Officer Romeo's vehicle was assigned as a backup on Officer Bruso's police call, which supported Officer Bruso's location at the time he stopped Bernard. (R29:5-6).

The circuit court ultimately found that none of these unlitigated discrepancies were sufficient to show ineffectiveness by defense counsel during the motion hearing, since "none of them would have been sufficient to call Officer Romeo's credibility into question." (R29:7). The circuit court found Officer Romeo's testimony consistent with the CAD report moved into evidence, and that it was "quite remarkable that all of this activity could take place within four minutes and thirty-five seconds." (R29:7). The circuit court denied Bernard's request for a hearing on the postconviction claim, since they would not have changed the outcome of the evidentiary hearing. (R29:7).

Bernard's postconviction motion also alleged that there was no factual basis supporting a conviction for the second count of possession of a firearm by an individual under eighteen years old. (R18). The State conceded that there was no factual basis for the charge. (R22:8). Accordingly, the circuit court vacated the sentence and judgment on the second count. (R29:7).

Bernard now appeals, alleging that had the five alleged discrepancies been litigated by Bernard's defense counsel, the circuit court would not have found him to be a credible witness, and Bernard would not have pled guilty to the charges. (R19:17). In his motion, Bernard specifically contends that the five discrepancies justified an evidentiary hearing as to Officer Romeo's credibility, and now appeals the circuit court's discretionary decision in denying the motion without a hearing.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In order to sustain an plea withdrawal for ineffective assistance of counsel, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the two-part *Strickland* test applies. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 370 (1985) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)). *Strickland* requires a defendant to show "first, that counsel's performance was deficient and, second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 669, 104 S. Ct. at 2055. "[I]n order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for

counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. at 370. *Strickland* further requires that "there [be] a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. Further, under the *Strickland* standard, a "reasonable probability" was defined as "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id*.

A defendant is not automatically entitled to a hearing on a motion claiming ineffective assistance. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 10, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 577, 682 N.W.2d 433, 438 (citing *State v. Velez*, 224 Wis. 2d 1, 12, 589 N.W.2d 9, 15 (1999)). Whether a motion for ineffective assistance of counsel requires a subsequent evidentiary hearing is controlled by *State v. Bentley*:

> If the motion on its face alleges facts which would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court has no discretion and must hold an evidentiary hearing . . . [but], if the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, the circuit court has the discretion to deny a postconviction motion without a hearing . . .

*Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-311, 548 N.W.2d 50, 53 (1996) (citing *Brookfield v. Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage Dist.*, 171 Wis. 2d 400, 423, 491 N.W.2d 484, 493 (1992)).

In order to necessitate an evidentiary hearing, a motion must allege sufficient, material facts to meet the *Bentley* standard. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 23, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 585, 682 N.W.2d 433, 441. The *Allen* court described sufficient material facts as including "the five 'w's' and one 'h,' that is, who, what, where, when, why, and how." *Id*. In other words, a motion must show how the alleged facts are relevant in a circuit court's assessment of the postconviction claim. *Id*.

In determining the sufficiency of a postconviction motion, the court may,

[d]eny a postconviction motion for a hearing if all the facts alleged in the motion, *assuming them to be true, do not entitle the movant to relief;* if one or more key factual allegations in the motion are conclusory; or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the movant is not entitled to relief.

*Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 12, 274 Wis. 2d at 579, 682 N.W.2d at 438. (emphasis added)

The court of appeals reviews a circuit court's discretionary decisions under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 26, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 124, 700 N.W.2d 62, 68 (citing *In re the Commitment of Franklin*, 2004 WI 38, ¶ 6, 270 Wis. 2d 271, 677 N.W.2d 276, and *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 11, 548 N.W.2d at 53). "A circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it has examined the relevant facts, applied the proper legal standards, and engaged in a rational decision-making process." *Id.* (citing *Schultz v. Darlington Mut. Ins. Co.*, 181 Wis.2d 646, 656, 511 N.W.2d 879, 883 (1994)).

Appellate courts are not required to come to the same conclusions based on the facts at issue at the circuit court:

It is recognized that a trial court in an exercise of its discretion may reasonably reach a conclusion which another judge or another court may not reach, but it must be a decision which a reasonable judge or court could arrive at by the consideration of the relevant law, the facts, and a process of logical reasoning."

*Hartung v. Hartung*, 102 Wis. 2d 58, 66, 305 N.W.2d 16, 20-21 (1981).

#### ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly denied Bernard's motion for postconviction relief because Bernard's motion failed to allege sufficient facts demonstrating that, but for Bernard's defense counsel's alleged errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.

A trial court properly exercises its discretion in denying a post-conviction motion without a hearing when it has examined "the relevant facts, applied the proper legal standards, and engaged in a rational decision-making process." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 318, 548 N.W.2d at 57. The circuit court did that here, when it determined Bernard's motion failed to allege sufficient, material facts to warrant a hearing. This Court must determine whether the circuit court properly decided whether Officer Romeo gave incorrect testimony that undermined his credibility, regarding the five separate discrepancies alleged by Bernard.

Bernard contended that Officer Romeo's First, testimony that he traveled from "18<sup>th</sup> Street and Burleigh Street" before stopping Bernard belies his credibility, because the intersection could only exist in a cemetery. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 15). The circuit court found Officer Romeo's testimony to be an approximation. (R29:4). The circuit court's finding was consistent with Officer Romeo's testimony, which estimated his location "approximately" when testifying on direct examination with the prosecutor. (R37:5). But, even though Officer Romeo only testified to an approximate location, the circuit court also took into account that he was driving his squad while he heard of the initial call of a possible stolen vehicle, and thus would not be expected to be remember his *exact* location at the time he heard the call. (R29:4). The circuit court's analysis demonstrates an application of the relevant facts of the case to the legal question before it.

Further, Bernard failed to demonstrate *why* Officer Romeo's exact location as he began his investigation of Bernard is a material fact, as required by *Allen*. 2004 WI 106, ¶ 23, 274 Wis. 2d at 585, 682 N.W.2d at 441. Bernard made no suggestion of an alternate starting location, or a possible reason for Officer Romeo to falsify his original location before he stopped Bernard. Thus, while Bernard may be correct in asserting that "18<sup>th</sup> Street and Burleigh Street" is not an intersection, he fails to show how, or why, this discrepancy is relevant or material.

Second, this Court must consider whether Bernard's contention that Officer Romeo's route from the time he heard the call of a possible stolen vehicle to the time he stopped Bernard would have taken "approximately three minutes, much longer than the ten seconds alleged by the officer" is a sufficient, *material* discrepancy warranting a hearing. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 15). Regarding this allegation, the circuit court compared the testimony of Officer Romeo to the circumstances of the case and the CAD report:

Had trial counsel tried to pin the officer down as to his whereabouts at precisely 2 a.m., 2:01 a.m., 2:02 a.m., etc., the court would still have found that the officer was in the vicinity of the possible stolen vehicle, and that the CAD report for police call #161220348 supported [Officer Romeo]'s testimony.

#### (R29:6).

The circuit court concluded that the alleged time difference is inconsequential since, in either case, Officer Romeo stopped Bernard very quickly after receiving the call of a possible stolen vehicle. Even assuming Bernard's alleged discrepancy, the circuit court found that the time difference does nothing to impugn Officer Romeo's testimony.

Further, Bernard again failed to show why a difference of "ten seconds" or "approximately three minutes" is a *material* difference sufficient to warrant a hearing. Alleging that this difference undermines Officer Romeo's credibility is conclusory, and exactly the type of fact deemed *immaterial* in Allen. Had the allegation that the "three minutes" as calculated by Bernard hid additional relevant aspects of the investigation, then a hearing may have been warranted. Instead, Bernard simply asserted that Officer Romeo must have driven for three minutes instead of ten seconds, and concluded that this difference itself undermines his credibility. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, pp. 15-17). The circuit court found that the difference was inconsequential and did not tend to undermine Officer Romeo's credibility. (R29:7). No additional facts have been alleged suggesting the contrary.

Third, this Court must consider whether or not Officer Romeo was "following the traffic rules in the middle of the street in [his] squad" at the time he came into contact with Bernard bears on his credibility. The circuit court found that Officer Romeo testified only that he was following the traffic rules with respect to driving in the middle of the street, and thus any other conclusions about Officer Romeo's testimony would be unsupported by the record. (R29:4).

The circuit court went further and again assumed Bernard's contention that Officer Romeo may have driven the wrong way on the street, stating:

> It is entirely conceivable that the officer either did not recall that he had turned onto a one-way street or that he did not notice that it was a one-way street because his attention was focused on the three individuals who were walking down the middle of it at 2 a.m.

(R29:4-5). Thus, the circuit court's conclusion was that even assuming Officer Romeo unwittingly travelled the wrong way down a one-way street would not justify an inquisition into his credibility, since it would be a reasonable mistake to make. (R29:4-5). *State v. Allen* permits a trial court to dispose of a postconviction motion without a hearing if the court finds that the facts alleged, even if true, do not entitle the movant to relief. *Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 12, 274 Wis. 2d at 579, 682 N.W.2d at 438.

Again, Bernard failed to show how whether Officer Romeo was "following traffic rules" *mattered* regarding the credibility of his testimony. Bernard pointed to no nefarious conduct or any reason why this discrepancy would be material to the subsequent investigation of Bernard. Without such an explanation, Bernard failed to allege sufficient material facts that would warrant an evidentiary hearing under *Allen*. 2004 WI 106, ¶ 23, 274 Wis. 2d at 585, 682 N.W.2d at 441.

Fourth, Bernard alleged that Officer Romeo's belief that the three juveniles were "around fifteen" years old undermines his credibility. (R37:8). Bernard asserted that Officer Romeo "cannot be believed," because the three juveniles were, in fact, 16, 17, and 17 years old. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, pp. 15-16). Again, the circuit court analyzed this discrepancy by reviewing the testimony of Officer Romeo, which did not reflect a belief that the juveniles were *exactly* fifteen years old, but that they were "around fifteen." (R29:5). The circuit court accordingly viewed this statement as an approximation. (R29:5). But the circuit court took additional facts from the record into account, citing that Officer Romeo made this estimation at nighttime, while in a squad vehicle, not "standing face to face." (R29:5). Ultimately, the circuit court found that the record did not support Bernard's claim whatsoever: "[t]he officer's assessment was that [Bernard] was a juvenile, and he was correct." (R29:5).

Again, Bernard again fails to show how or why Officer Romeo's estimation of the juveniles' age—other than the conclusion that they were juveniles—is material. While Bernard may be correct in arguing that the juveniles were not *exactly* fifteen years old, there has been no showing that Officer Romeo's credibility was at issue because his estimation was off by one or two years. Without explaining how or why Officer Romeo's estimation is relevant to the reasons he was stopped, this discrepancy also is *immaterial* and insufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing under *Allen*.

Finally, this Court must consider Bernard's allegation that Officer Romeo fabricated the call of a possible stolen vehicle to facilitate his stop of Bernard. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, pp. 16-18). Bernard asserts that the circuit court failed to address this allegation altogether. *Id*.

Contrary to Bernard's assertion, the circuit court cited the fact that the CAD report for the incident was consistent with Officer Romeo's account, stating "the [CAD] report supports Officer Romeo's testimony that he had heard the call from Bruso around 2 a.m." (R29:5). The circuit court further found that the CAD report was consistent with the entirety of Officer Romeo's testimony: "The CAD also confirms that at 2:03:45 a.m., Officer Romeo's squad reports that they had a person in custody and that a gun had been recovered . . . within four minutes and 35 seconds of Officer Bruso's call . . . ." (R29:6) The circuit court then outlined fifteen undisputed steps Officer Romeo took in investigating Bernard after he heard Officer Bruso's broadcast, saying it was "remarkable" that all of the steps could be completed in such short time. (R29:6-7). The circuit court explained that the short timeframe "would only be possible if Officer Romeo was in very close proximity to the arrest scene" when he heard the call from Officer Bruso about a possible stolen vehicle, and that this inference supported the CAD report containing Officer Bruso's broadcast. (R29:5-7). It is only by ignoring the consistency

between Officer Romeo's testimony and Officer Bruso's broadcast in the CAD report which allows Bernard to allege that the two incidents are unrelated.

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